IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00330

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF
PUBLIC SAFETY BOARD ON LAW
ENFORCEMENT OFFICER STANDARDS
AND TRAINING

APPELLANT

V.

AUGUSTUS JOHNSON

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Leflore County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL
S. MARTIN MILLETTE, MSB NO
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Attorneys for Appellant
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 220
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
Telephone No. (601) 359-3828
Facsimile No. (601) 359-2003

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00330

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY BOARD ON LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the hearing the Public Safety Board provided Johnson before acting on Johnson's request to have his certificate [transferred, issued] satisfied procedural due process;
- 2. Whether the Chancellor abused his discretion when he remanded this case to the agency when the agency's decision had clear statutory authority and credible evidence upon which to base its decision;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Posture

On February 26, 1999, the Chief of Police for the Itta Bena Police Department terminated Officer Augustus Johnson (Appellee) because Johnson pled guilty to felony embezzlement in connection with his pawning of his city issued shotgun and using the proceeds for personal gain. (R. at 36, 37-44). Pursuant to the policies of the Mississippi Department of Public Safety Board on Law Enforcement Officer Standards and Training (the "Board"), on April 20, 1999, the Itta Bena Police Department returned Johnson's original law enforcement certificate the Department had held while Johnson was employed as an officer. (R. at 36).

For the next nine years, Johnson remained out of law enforcement, and the certificate remained inactive and in the custody of the Board. It was not until 2008, that Johnson again sought work in the law enforcement field and his new employer, the Mississippi Valley State University Police Department, contacted the Board to request that Johnson's certificate be reactivated and assigned to them² (R. at 31). The Board denied the request to reactivate the certificate and proceeded to revoke the certification request based on Johnson's guilty plea to felony embezzlement. (R. at 9, 31). Johnson appealed the Board's decision and was granted a

¹ The Board's "Termination/Reassignment Report" contains the following: "Is the officer certified? Yes__ No__. If <u>yes</u>, please return the original certificate." R. at 36; *See also* The Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards and Training Professional Certification and Policy Procedures Manual Ch. 2, § 102.04 ("The employer should return the certificate to the Board Director, along with a complete 'Termination/Reassignment Report' form.").

² The Board's regulations state:

[&]quot;The law specifies that any certificate for a law enforcement officer issued as a result of the Law Enforcement Officers Training Program is the property of the Board. Although the certificate is issued in the name of the individual officer, the Board shall place the certificate in the stewardship of the employer and shall retain the right to require return of the certificate of the Board." See Sh. 2 § 101

hearing which was held on September 11, 2008. (R. at 33). At the conclusion of the full hearing, the Board voted unanimously to cancel Johnson's certificate. (R. at 19). Aggrieved by the decision of the Board, Johnson appealed to the Chancery Court of Leflore County. The Chancellor reversed the Board's decision and remanded the matter back to the Board with the instruction that the Board and Johnson "present evidence to support their respective positions." (R. at 73). The Board now appeals that Opinion and Order.

B. Statement of the Facts

Johnson was issued a Professional Certificate on October 10, 1990, which allowed him to serve as a police officer. (R. at 8). He was certified by the Board and worked for the Itta Bena Police Department. (R. at 9). By accepting certification as a law enforcement officer, an officer agrees to, among other responsibilities, uphold the Law Enforcement Code of Ethics. *See* The Board on Law Enforcement Officers Standards and Training Professional Certification and Policy Procedures Manual ("Board Regulations") at page 1. Johnson's duty included to be "[h]onest in thought and deed in both my personal and official life, I will be exemplary in obeying the laws of the land and the regulations of my department." *Id.* Further, the Code of Ethics requires sworn law enforcement officers to "recognize the badge of my office as a symbol of public faith, and I accept it as a public trust to be held so long as I am true to the ethics of the police service. I will constantly strive to achieve these objectives and ideals, dedicating myself before God to my chosen profession. . . Law Enforcement." *Id.* Unfortunately for Johnson and for the city and citizens he served, Johnson violated this solemn Code of Ethics in the most

³ The Board's Regulations can be found at: www.dps.state.ms.us/dps/dps.nsf /webpageedit/PulbicSafetyPlanning_bleost_Manual/\$FILE/BLEOST_Policy_Procedures_Manual.pdf?OpenElement

severe manner possible by committing a crime of dishonesty directly against the public.

Johnson was fired from the police department on February 26, 1999, because he pled guilty to felony embezzlement after he pawned a shotgun and a .38 caliber handgun that had been entrusted to him by the City. (R. at 9)⁴ The Board received a termination/reassignment form from the Itta Bena Police Department stating Johnson had been discharged from the department with a comment that "Sergeant Johnson pawned a City shotgun that was entrusted to him for personal use." (R. at 11). Subsequently, Johnson, with his attorney, entered a plea of guilty to the crime of embezzlement in the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial District of Leflore County Mississippi, on December 6, 1999. (R. at 11). He was sentenced to a pre-trial diversion program and received a fine of Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$250.00). (R. at 9-11).

In April 1999, after Johnson was fired by Itta Bena, Johnson's law enforcement certificate, which always remained the property of the Board, was returned to the Board by the Itta Bena Police Department. (R. at 36). The Board's regulations provide the following:

The staff shall decide the disposition of a certificate within a reasonable time after receiving notice that a certificate has been returned **The Board** may decide to:

- 1. delay consideration of the return of the certificate;
- 2. inactivate the certificate;

⁴ the Itta Bena Police Department's Termination/Reassignment Report references that Johnson "pawned a city shot gun that was entrusted to him for personal use." (R. at 36). Johnson admitted to, and pled guilty to, this unlawful act. (R. at 9). However, the Criminal Investigation Bureau of the Mississippi Department of Public Safety's investigation found that: On 09-DEC-98, August Johnson pawned five guns to "Crazy Charlie's Pawn Shop" located on MS 7 in Greenwood, MS. the Taurus .38 caliber revolver had been seized by the Itta Bena Police Department on 16-JUN-98, and the Winchester 12 gauge shot gun had been purchased from Roper Supply and Shipped to Itta Bena Police Department in July of 1989. (R. at 37). Further, Johnson's letter to the Board of August 2008 acknowledges that more than one weapon was pawned. (R. at 45).

⁵ See Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-5(7).

- 3. assign stewardship of the certificate to new law enforcement employer or;
- 4. annul/revoke a certificate, if issued in error or through misrepresentation or fraud.

(Board Regulation Ch. 2, § 102.05 (emphasis supplied)). Furthermore, the Board's regulations provide:

When the staff has inactivated a certificate because an officer is no longer in law enforcement employment as described in this Policy and Procedures Manual, is on indefinite leave or leave for more than one year, or for other reasons the Board director may reactivate the certificate when the certified officer resumes employment for the employer who returned the certificate or under a new law enforcement employer included under the Law enforcement Officers Training Program.

Board Regulation Ch. 2, § 102.08. Since Johnson expressed no interest in returning to law enforcement, and no law enforcement agency asked that the certificate be sent to them so that they could employ Johnson, Johnson's certificate was deactivated and remained in the possession of the Board. Further, after Johnson was out of law enforcement for two years, his certification "lapsed." *See* Board Regulation Ch. 2, § 102.09 ("When an officer, certified by Mississippi statute, leaves law enforcement employment for a period of two years or more, his or her certificate will lapse."); Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-5(1).

Johnson spent the next nine years out of law enforcement and without a certificate from the Board. Then on March 28, 2008, Johnson submitted an Order of Expungement to the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial District of Leflore County. (R. at 9). Shortly after the Order of Expungement was entered, Mississippi Valley State University Police Department asked the Board to activate Johnson's certificate and provide that certificate to the Department so that

⁶ Had the certificate not been deactiviated (for example, if Johnson had immediately sought reemployment in law enforcement), the Board would have still had the discretion to "delay consideration of the return of the certificate" under option 1 of the Regulations. Ch. 2, § 102.05

Johnson could be employed as a law enforcement officer. (R. at 9). The Board sent a letter dated May 1, 2008, to the Interim Chief Levi Ford notifying him that the Board would not approve the certification request. (R. at 31). The written policy conferring such authority on the Board was set forth in the letter and reads as follows:

II. Policy: The Board may reject any unqualified applicant for certification by a classification of not eligible for certification. Further, the Board reserves the right to reprimand, suspend, or cancel and recall any certificate when: the certificate was issued by administrative error; the certificate was obtained through misrepresentation or fraud; the holder had been convicted, pled guilty, pled nolo contendere, fined, ordered into probation or pre-trial diversion in relation to a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude;

(R. at 31 (citing Board Regulation §§ 101-101.03)). The powers of the Board are set forth under Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-7. Johnson requested a hearing as of right on May 15, 2008. (R. at 31).

A full hearing was held before the Board on September 11, 2008. (R. at 5). At the outset of the hearing, Johnson acknowledged that he had the opportunity to have counsel present, have witnesses present to speak on his behalf, and submit documents and other related materials. (R. at 7). Johnson received a letter from the Board setting his hearing date which also included this information. (R. at 34). At the hearing, Robert Davis, Director of the Office on Law Enforcement, Emergency Telecommunications, and Detention Officer Standards and Training, testified on behalf of the Public Safety Board. (R. at 7). Mr. Davis referenced a letter to the Board, dated August 29, 2008, from Johnson. In this letter, Johnson wrote, "[a]t my hearing, I intend to testify to the fact that any wrongdoings I have committed were the result of financial duress and lack of knowledge." (R. at 45). He also wrote that "[t]he factors leading to a decision on my part to pawn two weapons during 1998 the holiday season were based on a last ditch effort to avoid a major financial crisis." (Id.).

After Mr. Davis concluded his testimony, Johnson testified on his behalf. At the

conclusion of Johnson's testimony, Chief Isaac Morris (hereinafter "Morris") testified on Johnson's behalf (R. at 15). Morris was Johnson's supervisor when he worked for the Itta Bena Police Department during the time frame when Johnson was discharged for committing embezzlement. (R. at 45). Morris testified that Johnson was a good officer and that he simply exhibited bad judgment. (R. at 17). Morris further testified about Johnson's "rehabilitation" since his guilty plea in 1999. Specifically, Morris testified that he "...wouldn't have came [sic] down here if [he] didn't know the way he [Johnson] is, and the way he's carried hisself [sic] since then..." (Id.) Morris testified that "[h]e's been the same upstanding citizen." (R..at 17). Furthermore, Morris asked the Board to give Johnson a second chance to regain his career. (R. at 15). Both sides rested and the Board entered into an executive session to consider the matter before this Court. (R. at 18). At the conclusion of the executive session, the Board voted unanimously to cancel and recall Johnson's certificate, finding that Johnson's conduct breached the Law Enforcement Code of Ethics. (R. at 19). Moreover, the Board found that Johnson's crime violated the minimum standards [of officer conduct] and diminished the public trust. (Id.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is about a police officer seeking to reactivate his professional certificate after he was discharged from his job because he pawned a shotgun that had been entrusted to him and benefitted from the proceeds. The Board has a duty to ensure that certificates are only issued to fully qualified officers, denied when applicants are not qualified to be in law enforcement, and revoked when appropriate.

This Court, in hearing this matter, is limited to an appellate review of the record. A rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the Board's decision. Appellate courts provide great deference to an agency's interpretation and application of its own rules. The Record from the Public Safety Board contains ample evidence to support the Board's decision to deny Johnson's application for reactivation of his certificate.

The Board's decision to deny Johnson's application for certification was clearly within it's statutory discretion and provided Johnson with due process afforded him under the law. Johnson's application for reactivation of his certificate was received by the Board and given a thorough review. The Board then notified Johnson that the request had been denied. A full hearing was conducted by the Board. He was also given the opportunity to have witnesses speak and present evidence to support his case for certification. Johnson has been afforded all due process required under the law. Furthermore, the doctrine of laches does not apply in this situation. The passage of time did not prejudice Johnson in any way. The Board adhered to the regulations promulgated under the authority of the Mississippi Code.

The Chancellor opined that the Board did not have the authority to deny Johnson's application for a professional certificate without initiating action to determine whether to recall Johnson's certificate. However, the Chancellor offers no authority to support his contention.

Johnson presented additional information through the testimony of Morris. Morris' testimony served to show Johnson's purported rehabilitation. The Board reviewed all the evidence along with the subsequent behavior presented at the hearing but did not find the evidence persuasive enough to establish that Johnson met the minimum fitness to be certified as a law enforcement officer. Considering all the additional information, the Board acted within its authority in denying Johnson's application for certification, and the Chancellor abused his discretion by remanding the case for yet another subsequent hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Employs a Highly Deferential Standard of Review.

This Court is limited to an appellate review of the record from the hearing conducted by the Public Safety Board. The Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards and Training v. Butler, 672 So. 2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 1996) (reversed on the grounds that the chancellor had abused his discretion by substituting his judgment for that of the agency when there was ground for the agency's decision which negated a finding of arbitrary and capricious). Regarding the Board's factual conclusions, the standard of review is whether or not there was an evidentiary basis for its decision. Mississippi Board on Law Enforcement Officer Standards and Training v. Clark, 964 So. 2d 570, 573 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Mississippi Board on Law Enforcement Officer Standards and Training v. Voyles, 732 So. 2d. 216, 218 (Miss. 1999)). An appellate court will reverse the decision of an administrative agency only if the decision (1) was unsupported by substantial evidence; (2) was arbitrary and capricious; (3) was beyond the power of the administrative agency to make; or (4) violated the complaining party's statutory or constitutional right. Hinds County Sch. Dist. Bd. of Trs. v. R.B. ex rel. D.L.B., 10 So.3d 387, 394-95 (Miss.2008). There is a rebuttable presumption in favor of the agency's decision. Clark, 964 So. 2d at 573. There can be no doubt that an officer who has pleaded guilty to the felony crime of embezzlement has violated the public trust. This fact alone supports the Public Safety board' s revocation and refusal to recertify Johnson.

With respect to whether the Board's actions were consistent with its governing statutes and rules, the Board is entitled to "great deference" in its "'construction of its own rules and regulations and the statutes under which it operates." *McDerment v. Miss. Real Estate Comm'n*, 748 So.2d 114, 118 (Miss.1999) (quoting *Miss. State Tax Comm'n v. Mask*, 667 So.2d 1313,

1314 (Miss.1995)). When reviewing an agency's interpretation of its governing statutes, courts determine whether the statute is "ambiguous or silent" on the precise question, and, if so, the agency's interpretation must be upheld if it is "based on a permissible construction of the statute." *Barbour v. State ex rel. Hood*, 974 So.2d 232, 240 (Miss. 2008)(citing *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 865-866 (1984)). Further, "[t]he court need not conclude that the agency construction was the only one it permissibly could have adopted to uphold the construction, or even the reading the court would have reached if the question initially had arisen in a judicial proceeding." *Mississippi Gaming Com'n v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, Inc.*, 751 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1999) (quoting *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 843 n.11).

Separately, courts provide even greater deference to an agency's interpretation and application of its own rules. Indeed, the "standard of review limits an appellate court to determining whether the agency's construction of its own rules rises to a level of being an arbitrary determination." *Mississippi Dep't of Human Services v. McDonald*, 24 So.3d 378, 381 (Miss. App. 2009); *Miss. State Tax Comm'n v. Mask*, 667 So.2d 1313, 1315 (Miss. 1995). Although firmly grounded in the separation of powers doctrine, the great deference afforded administrative agencies reflects the complexity of legal, policy, and public safety concerns with which boards like the appellant Mississippi Department of Public Safety Board on Law Enforcement Officer Standards and Training must balance when granting law enforcement certificates. As this Court has noted in similar circumstances,

We have today a matter of statutory interpretation, committed initially to an agency within the executive department of the government, here the State Personnel Board and its alter ego, the Employees Appeal Board. Notwithstanding our ordinarily *de novo* review of questions of law, we have accepted an obligation of deference to agency interpretation and practice in areas of administration by

law committed to their responsibility. This duty of deference derives from our realization that the everyday experience of the administrative agency gives it familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to its care which no court can hope to replicate. In today's context, that duty of deference is as well a function of EAB's unique administrative charge to blend and pursue pragmatically and at once fact finding, legal interpretation and promotion of legislatively established public policy.

Gill v. Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife Conservation, 574 So.2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990) (citations omitted).

II. The Board's Decision Comported with Due Process and Was Not Inconsistent with Its Governing Statutes or Regulations.

A. The Board Provided Johnson With Due Process.

In the Opinion and Order issued by the Chancellor, the matter was remanded for another hearing so that both the Board and Johnson could have another opportunity to present additional evidence although there is no indication any additional evidence exists. The on-the-record hearing provided at Johnson's request fulfilled the Board's due process obligation. The due process required by the Federal Constitution is the same due process required by the Mississippi Constitution. *Mississippi Power Co. v. Goudy*, 459 So.2d 257, 275 (Miss.1984); *Secretary of State v. Wiesenberg* 633 So.2d 983, 996 (Miss. 1994). "[D]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972). "The 'timing and nature of the required hearing will depend on appropriate accommodation of the competing interests involved." *Krimstock v. Kelly*, 306 F.3d 40, 51-52 (2d Cir.2002) (quoting *Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co.*, 455 U.S. 422, 434, 102 S.Ct. 1148, 71 L.Ed.2d 265 (1982)). The essence of due process is that a deprivation of a property or liberty interest must "be preceded by notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case." *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70

S.Ct. 652, 656, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950); see also *Loudermill*, 470 U.S. at 546, 105 S.Ct. at 1495. The Board sent a letter to Johnson notifying him that Mississippi Valley State's request that his certificate be reactivated was denied. The letter also informed Johnson that he was entitled to request a hearing before the Board if he was aggrieved by the decision of the Board. *See* R. at 11-18. Johnson appealed the decision of the Board, and a full hearing was held before the Board. Johnson testified during the hearing and also offered the testimony of Itta Bena's Police Chief Isaac Morris. Morris testified regarding Johnson's actions since his guilty plea in 1999. *See* R. at 9-11. Clearly, the notice given was adequate, and Johnson's testimony, along with that of Morris, satisfy due process.

Importantly, any argument that due process required the Board to conduct a hearing in April 1999, when the Itta Bena Police Department returned Johnson's certificate is simply wrong. Due process, at its fullest protection, requires a hearing before the Board actually and affirmatively deprived Johnson of a property interest. *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 313; *see also Loudermill*, 470 U.S. at 546. In April 1999, the Board took no action to deprive Johnson of his certificate. In April 1999, the Board received the certificate from Itta Bena and the certificate become inactive. The Board then awaited to see if there was any interest from Johnson in continuing his law enforcement career. Because Johnson was no longer using, or in need of his certificate, there was no need to hold a hearing from April 1999 until Mississippi Valley State contacted the Board in 2008. Once the Board proceeded to consider whether to issue Johnson's certificate to Mississippi Valley State, the Board then provided Johnson notice and an opportunity to be heard as required by the due process guarantee. In short, there was no deprivation of Johnson's interest in his certificate until 2008 and, thus, there was no constitutional requirement for a hearing until that time.

B. The Board's Actions Were Consistent with Its Governing Statutes and Regulations.

The Board is a statutorily created agency entrusted with "provid[ing] for the coordination of training programs for law enforcement officers and to set standards therefore." Miss. Code. Ann. § 45-6-1. Under Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-7, the Board "shall have the power to . . . certify persons as being qualified under the provisions of this chapter to be law enforcement officers" and to "revoke certification for cause." There is ample statutory authority that gives the Board discretion to determine whether or not to reactivate and/or revoke a certificate. The Board's decision not to reactive Johnson's certificate in 2008 was consistent with, and in fact required by, Code Section 45-6-11(4) providing that "[n]o person shall be appointed or employed as a law enforcement officer . . . unless that person has been certified as being qualified . . . [including that the candidate has] good moral character, experience, and such other matters as relate to the competence and reliability of persons to assume and discharge the responsibly of law enforcement officers. . . . "

Further, the Board's decision to revoke Johnson's certificate in 2008, rather than 1999, is consistent with its regulations. While Chapter 2 §102.05 of regulations provides that the "staff shall decide the disposition of a certificate within a reasonable time after receiving notice that a certificate has been returned", the regulations provide greater flexibility for the Board by providing that "the Board may decide to:

- 1. delay consideration of the return of the certificate;
- 2. inactivate the certificate;
- 3. assign stewardship of the certificate to new law enforcement employer or;
- 4. annul/revoke a certificate, if issued in error or through misrepresentation or

fraud."

Board Regulation Ch. 2, § 102.05. Further, Chapter 2 §102.08 provides:

When the staff has inactivated a certificate because an officer is no longer in law enforcement employment as described in this Policy and Procedures Manual, is on indefinite leave or leave for more than one year, or for other reasons the Board director may reactivate the certificate when the certified officer resumes employment for the employer who returned the certificate or under a new law enforcement employer included under the Law Enforcement Officers Training Program.

Johnson's certificate became inactive and remained in the possession of the Board after it was returned by the Itta Bena Police Department and Johnson expressed no interest in returning to law enforcement, and no law enforcement agency asked that the certificate be sent to them so that they could employ Johnson. Further, once an officer is out of law enforcement for two years, his certification "lapses" by operation of the Board's regulation. See Board Regulation Ch. 2, § 102.09 ("When an officer, certified by Mississippi statute, leaves law enforcement employment for a period of two years or more, his or her certificate will lapse."); Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-11(1). After 2001 (two years after Johnson left law enforcement), his certificate lapsed by operation of the regulation and there was no reason for the Board to take any action regarding the returned and now lapsed certificate unless and until Johnson desired to re-enter the field of law enforcement. Thus, the Board's decision to conduct a hearing in 2008 regarding whether to reactivate and/or to revoke Johnson's license was not an "arbitrary" construction of its rules lacking any basis and made on a whim, but was, in fact, consistent with their common sense

⁷ Indeed, a hearing in 1999 to revoke the certificate, in light of the fact that Johnson was not seeking re-employment in law enforcement at that time, would have been a pointless act. There was no need to revoke a certificate that was voluntarily surrendered to the Board. Further, there was, in all likelihood, little chance that Johnson, who had pled guilty to a felony charge stemming from his pawning of his city issued weapon, would ever seek re-employment in law enforcement for if he did seek it, that any law enforcement agency would ever offer to hire him.

application. See Mississippi Dep't of Human Services v. McDonald, 24 So.3d 378, 381

(Miss.App. 2009); Miss. State Tax Comm'n v. Mask, 667 So.2d 1313, 1315 (Miss. 1995); State Tax Commission v. Earnest, 627 So. 2d 313, 320 (Miss. 1993) ("An act is [considered] arbitrary when it is done without adequately determining principle; [or when] not done according to reason or judgment ...")

C. Laches Does Not Apply to the Board, Who is Acting in the Public Interest.

Further, even if Johnson were to contend that the doctrine of laches bars the Board from revoking his license in 2008 (even though Johnson himself took no action regarding his license from 1999 through 2008), such a contention would be wrong. The passage of time alone is not sufficient for the application of the doctrine of laches. Bauer v. New York State Office Of Children and Family Services, 55 A.D.3d 421 (2008). When determining when laches is asserted "all of the circumstances of the case, one of which must be the existence of harm occasioned by the delay" must be considered. In Re Tenenbaum, 918 A.2d 1109, 1114 (2007). "As a general rule, an individual's due process rights are not violated, and will not affect the validity of an administrative determination, unless actual prejudice is shown." Id. at 1122 (quoting Sandifur v. Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board, 1993 WL 389217 (Del.Super) (check the format of this cite with the blue book). There was no prejudice to Johnson. Johnson was given a hearing when he requested one. When Johnson was fired from the Itta Bena Police Department, his certificate was returned to the Board. Johnson essentially gave his certificate up voluntarily when he committed acts that resulted in him losing his job. Had Johnson applied for another job, he would have been given a hearing at that time. Otherwise, there was no need to hold a hearing. Johnson stayed out of law enforcement for nine years. Johnson had his record expunged shortly before the hearing at issue. When Johnson decided to attempt to return to law

enforcement, the hearing process began. Consequently, no prejudice was shown to Johnson.

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