**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  
CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00330**

**MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF  
PUBLIC SAFETY BOARD ON LAW  
ENFORCEMENT OFFICER STANDARDS  
AND TRAINING**

**APPELLANT**

**V.**

**AUGUSTUS JOHNSON**

**APPELLEE**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

**ALSEE MCDANIEL, MS [REDACTED]  
ATTORNEY AT LAW  
POST OFFICE BOX 546  
130 SECOND STREET  
INDIANOLA, MISSISSIPPI 38751  
TELEPHONE: (662) 887-5436  
FACSIMILE: (662) 887-5499**

**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  
CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00330**

**MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Board has set forth two issues for appeal herein : (1) Whether the Board provided Johnson procedural due process on his request to have a certificate issued; and (2) Whether the Chancellor abused his discretion when he remanded this case to the Board. Johnson hereby submits the Board did not accord him procedural due process in denying his application, and that the Chancellor was not err in remanding the case to the Board.

The Courts Mississippi have held that administrative proceedings should be conducted in a fair and impartial manner, and that litigants in such proceedings are entitled to due process, including, but not limited to, adequate notice of the issues to be decided. In the instant case, the Board's notice of hearing indicates that the issue for determination was the denial of "application for certification" . However, the Board's decision appears to be one to "revoke and cancel" certification. The Chancellor noted that there are different considerations and burdens of proof on these two issues, and the record is not clear on which issue the Board was proceeding. In these circumstances, there is a violation of Johnson's due process to the extent that the notice of hearing issued by the Board did not adequately inform him of the nature of the proceeding and review being conducted.

Although reviewing courts have a duty to accord deference to administrative agency decisions, no such deference is required if such decisions have applied an incorrect legal standard or if there are deficiencies in the record. In such circumstances, the reviewing court has authority to remand for further proceeding by the agency. Such was the finding by the Chancellor as related to the Board's proceeding on Johnson's application, and the case was properly remanded.

## ARGUMENT

### I. WHETHER THE BOARD PROVIDED JOHNSON DUE PROCESS ON HIS APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATION

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that “ the right to a hearing in a licensing proceeding embraces not only right to present evidence but also reasonable opportunity to know claims of opposing party and to meet them.” *Love v. Miss. Bd. Veterinary Examiners*, 230 Miss. 222 (Miss. 1957) In subsequent cases, the Court has made clear that constitutional due process is required in administrative proceedings. *Dean v. Public Emp. Retirement System*, 797 So.2d 830 ( Miss. 2000)-

The Mississippi statutes relating to certification of law enforcement officers set forth various standards for certification, recertification, recall, cancellation or revocation. Miss. Code Ann. 45-6-7, 45-6-11. Section 45-6-11(7) provides that professional certificates may be recalled and cancelled when the holder has been convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude. However, Section 45-6-11(10) provides that a law enforcement officer whose certification has been cancelled pursuant to this chapter may reapply for certification after two years of such cancellation.

In the instant case, the Board terminated or cancelled Johnson’s law enforcement professional certification in or about April 1999 after receiving notice of his termination from the Itta Bena Police Department on February 26, 1999. ( Appellant’s Record Excerpts, at 36) Johnson applied for recertification of his professional certificate in 2008 upon seeking employment with the MVSU Campus Police Department, and the Board denied said application by letter of May 1, 2008. ( R. at 31).



Upon receiving Johnson's request for appeal of the denial of certification, the Board issued a notice of hearing on August 8, 2008 which cited the aforementioned Mississippi statutes relating certification, recertification, recall and cancellation of certificates. However, the notice did not specifically state which of these actions was being considered by the Board. ( R. at 33) After the hearing, the Board went into executive session and returned with the following decision ( R. at 19) :

**"The Board has voted to cancel and recall your certificate as your conduct is a breach of Law Enforcement Code of Ethics."**

The notice provided to Johnson certainly did not indicate that the hearing was for recall and cancellation of his certificate, rather than recertification, as the Chancellor so noted in his ruling. ( R. at 70-71) To the extent that recertification was the issue, review of the Board's decision may properly have considered evidence other than Johnson's plea on the criminal charge nine(9) years prior to his application , including evidence of rehabilitation.

## II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE REMANDED THIS CASE TO THE BOARD

Prior Mississippi appeals court rulings have made clear that while reviewing courts should accord deference to administrative agency rulings, no such deference is required concerning questions of law or the application of the correct legal standard, and remand may properly be ordered by the court. *Ms Valley Gas Co. V. City of Pontotoc*, 795 So.2d 519 (Miss. 2001); *Miss. Dept of Corr. V. McClee*, 677 So.2d 732 ( Miss. 1996). The Court in the early case of *Love v. Miss Bd. Of Veterinary Examiners*, *supra*, 230 Miss. at 232 states the

principle as follows:

**“ There is nothing in the principles governing judicial review of administrative acts which precludes the court from giving an administrative body an opportunity to meet objections to Order by correcting irregularities in procedure, or supplying deficiencies in its record, or seeking additional findings where these are necessary, or applying findings validly made in the place of those attacked as invalid...The court may remand for further proceedings in order that the administrative agency may proceed according to law, or in order that some defect in the record may be supplied, by taking further evidence, clarifying ambiguous findings, or making additional findings.”**

In the instant case, the Chancellor found that while the Board has the authority to cancel and recall certificates, as well as, to order recertification, the nature of the action being considered by the Board must be clearly stated and communicated in making its determination based upon the legal standards for such actions. The Chancellor further found that there was nothing in the record which indicated the type of hearing to which Johnson was entitled, whether recertification, recall and cancellation. The case was, therefore, remanded to the Board to clarify these issues and for further hearing. The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion in so ruling.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and based upon the authorities cited herein, Appellee prays that Court will affirm the Ruling of the Leflore County Chancery Court remanding the case for further proceedings by the Appellant consistent with said Ruling.